

Sub-regional Seminar on Policy and Programmatic Actions to Address High Food Prices in the Oriental Near East, Gulf Cooperation Council Countries and Yemen

9 - 10 May 2011, Amman, Jordan

FAO Regional Office for the Near East

Cairo, Egypt



Sub-regional Seminar on Policy and Programmatic Actions to Address High Food Prices in the

Oriental Near East, Gulf Cooperation Council Countries and Yemen

9 - 10 May 2011, Amman, Jordan

Table of Contents

NTRODUCTION TO THE SUB-REGIONAL SEMINAR4		
BACKGROUND		
OBJECTIVES AND EXPECTED IMPACT, OUTCOMES AND OUTPUTS	5	
Objectives		
Expected Impact		
Expected Outcomes		
Expected Outputs		
STRUCTURE OF THE SUB-REGIONAL SEMINAR		
PERSPECTIVES ON THE SUB-REGIONAL SEMINAR	7	
SUMMARY OF PRESENTATIONS AND DISCUSSIONS	8	
GLOBAL AND REGIONAL TRENDS IN FOOD PRICES (SESSION 1)	8	
SHORT-TERM RESPONSES TO HIGH FOOD PRICES (SESSION 2)	8	
LONG-TERM CHALLENGES AND MEASURES TO ADDRESS HIGH FOOD PRICES (SESSION 4)	9	
DEVELOPMENT PARTNER PROGRAMS AND INITIATIVES (SESSION 5)		
Presentation of the FAO Guide on Policy and Programmatic Actions	11	
SHORT-TERM POLICY ACTIONS TAKEN BY GOVERNMENTS IN RESPONSE TO THE FOOD CRISIS	13	
OUTCOME OF WORKING GROUP DISCUSSIONS ON NEXT STEPS	14	
SUMMARY CONCLUSIONS OF THE SUB-REGIONAL SEMINAR ON POLICY AND PROGRAMMATIC ACTIONS	15	
NEXT STEPS	16	
ANNEX 1	18	
ANNEX 2	30	

Introduction to the Sub-Regional Seminar

Background

- 1. The sub-regional seminar for the Oriental Near East (SNO) and the Gulf Cooperation Council countries and Yemen (SNG) was held in Landmark Hotel in Amman, Jordan on May 9 and 10 2011. The event was part of a series of seminars organized by FAO in all FAO sub-regions, aimed at assisting governments of Member countries in designing their immediate actions in response to the current food price crisis, as well as understanding the role of long term measures and actions to achieve food security in the long run.
- 2. The high food prices have become an increasingly important global issue in the past four years. Starting in 2007-2008, commodity prices, and particularly prices of cereals, have soared to levels much higher than historical levels. Although they have subsided in 2009-2010, cereal prices have remained above the pre-2007 levels. During 2010-2011, another peak in sugar and vegetable oil prices have affected food and agriculture markets. High and volatile prices are expected to continue in the near future.
- 3. While several reasons have contributed to the soaring food prices, their impacts have been felt in a similar fashion across many countries. Net buyers of food, and particularly the urban poor have been affected negatively by the increase in food prices, jeopardizing food security. On the other hand, some producers have benefited from the high prices, and investments in agriculture have increased during recent years and are expected to grow in the next few years.
- 4. These impacts have spurred a number of policy actions in the SNO and SNG countries, to primarily address the immediate impacts of the food prices, and to dampen negative impacts on consumers. Most of these responses have been ad-hoc, without concrete programmatic action and planning, due to the sudden nature of the increase in prices, as well as the difficulty to address the issues in the long run, given the many challenges that the countries are facing, *inter alia*, fiscal pressures, high import dependency, scarcity of land and water resources and political uncertainty. Results of these actions have been mixed, but in most cases, need to be better evaluated and designed given that food prices are expected to stay at higher levels with continuing volatility in the near future.
- 5. The sub-regional seminar for high food prices in the SNO and SNG region was motivated by the need to take stock and exchange experiences with the various policy actions taken by the countries. Nine of the twelve countries in the two sub-regions were represented in the seminar, including Bahrain, Egypt, Iran, Iraq, Jordan, Lebanon, Saudi Arabia, Syria, and Yemen. In addition, representatives of international financial institutions, regional intergovernmental organizations, development partners, and civil society organizations were also present.

Objectives and Expected Impact, Outcomes and Outputs

Objectives

- 6. The regional seminar was aimed at exploring ways in which governments of member countries in the sub-regions can be assisted in their efforts to identify and design immediate policies as well as developing long term programmatic actions. The specific objectives of the seminar were as follows:
 - Provide an opportunity for two policy decision-makers from each country -, one from a line ministry in charge of agriculture, and the other from ministries such as finance, planning or Prime minister's office - to exchange country experiences in dealing with the 2008 food crises and the recent increases in food prices
 - Raise awareness of the various policy and programmatic actions, within the context of the high and volatile prices and the sub-regional challenges and priorities at national and regional level
 - Brief participants on FAO's "Guide for policy and programmatic actions at country level to address high food prices"
 - Identify future actions and the process to design, coordinate and implement appropriate policy and programmatic actions as well as the updating and sharing of information on price changes, policy measures and results
 - Map a way forwards to facilitate access to possible support for actions envisaged by participating countries.

Expected Impact

7. Governments design policies that better address rising food prices that threaten consumers and at the same time provide opportunities for producers and/or exporters. Awareness of long term measures and their role in mitigating negative impacts of future price shocks.

Expected Outcomes

- Participants use and disseminate knowledge gained from the seminar in policy dialogue to design measures to address high food prices at country level
- Participants engage at country level with development partners to seize opportunities for collaboration and support discussed during the seminar
- Countries adopt appropriate policy actions and long term measures to cope with the high food prices
- Minimization or mitigation of negative impacts of high food prices on vulnerable populations.

Expected Outputs

For participating countries:

- Participants are exposed to the FAO Guide and exchange with their peers and other stakeholders on measures for addressing high food prices
- They are better informed on opportunities for collaboration and support from development partners
- Participants have prepared a list of next steps to be implemented once back in the country to launch policy dialogue and mobilize development partner support.

For FAO and development partners:

- FAO and development partners are better informed on the situation and needs of participating countries to address high food prices
- FAO prepares a seminar report with the list of next steps
- FAO collects questionnaires on the situation and measures taken in participating countries to be conducted before the start of the seminar.

Structure of the Sub-Regional Seminar

- 8. The seminar was organized and implemented by FAO Regional Office for the Near East, including the FAO sub-regional offices for SNG and SNO and the Initiative on Soaring Food Prices (ISFP) Secretariat in coordination with other FAO technical divisions. Experts from the FAO RNE, the Agricultural Development Economics Division (ESA), Trade and Markets Division (EST), Policy and Programme Development Support Division (TCS) and the Investment Center (TCI) as well as regional experts from the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD), the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the Arab Organization for Agricultural Development (AOAD), the Arab Planning Institute (API), the Arab Monetary Fund, the Alternate Representative of the US Mission to UN Agencies in Rome, UN Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia (ESCWA) made presentations during the seminar to set the stage for further discussion, inform participants of existing programmes and support mechanisms.
- 9. The two-day seminar was structured around the short and long term issues, in tandem with the twin-track approach to food security, to address both the immediate nature of the policy actions and responses and the longer term issues including opportunities for investment. There were four main parts to the seminar: presentations by resource persons, plenary and break-out group discussions, reflections from development partners, and conclusions. Presentations on the first day set the stage on the global and regional trends of issues related to high food prices, followed by an overview of smallholder responses to high food prices, as well as immediate policy actions by countries. The participants then broke out into three country groups as follows: Group A (Syria, Lebanon, Iraq), Group B (Egypt, Jordan, Iran), and Group C (Yemen, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain). Other participants were free to join any of the groups.
- 10. Each of the nine countries in the seminar was represented by at least two representatives; one senior Ministry of Agriculture official and one senior official from another relevant ministry. Prior to the meeting, RNE distributed questionnaires to be completed by each country on its experiences with high food prices, the commodities concerned, the government priorities, policies and action programmes, implementation problems and constraints, and support needed. The questionnaire was helpful to prepare for the consultation and effectively present their countries' priorities and perspectives in break-out groups sessions.

Perspectives on the Sub-regional Seminar

- 11. The seminar was addressed by the Minister of Agriculture of Jordan Mr. Sameer Habashneh and Mr. Saad Al-Otaibi, FAO Assistant Director-General and Regional Representative for the Near East. The Jordanian Minister of Agriculture highlighted the need for long term strategies for increased investment and research in agriculture in the region, along with appropriate technical strategies to boost agriculture production to help sustainably deal with high food prices. He also stressed the importance of regional cooperation. The need for improved regional cooperation was a common theme repeated throughout the seminar in relation to various activities (trade, information, human resources and technology).
- 12. The FAO Assistant Director -General for the Near East drew attention to the need for countries to take quick and suitable steps in facing the food price crisis while at the same time guaranteeing long term food security. He called attention to the FAO publication "Guide for Policy and Programmatic Actions at Country Level to Address High Food Prices", which contains a directory of policy and program actions available to member countries and which can help countries in designing their policy actions. Mr. Al Otaibi also highlighted the role of the Regional Priority Framework for the Near East countries (RPF), endorsed by the member countries in the 30th Near East Conference (NERC 30) in assisting countries in their longer term programmatic actions for sustainable food security.
- 13. The presentations and discussions during the seminar were geared toward actions and responses, in order to facilitate the identification of areas of FAO assistance and support from development partners. The challenge of cushioning the immediate negative impacts of high and volatile food prices on consumers, while maintaining a profitable and productive agriculture sector articulated the need of countries and the sub-region. The seminar concluded with action areas to be addressed as follow-up to be discussed at country level and also to be carried to the Committee on Food Security representatives are looking at the appropriate technical and policy responses to minimize future vulnerability to high and volatile food prices, strengthen safety nets and increase domestic agriculture production.
- 14. Mr Moujahed Achouri, the Deputy Regional Representative for the Near East, Head of the Multidisciplinary Team for Oriental Near East, and FAO Representative in Egypt made a brief presentation to the participants to highlight the motivation for the seminar, its objectives, and expected impacts and outputs. He mentioned that the seminar will ultimately help pave the way for needed support for countries in developing policies/actions that better address the repercussions of rising food prices on the various stakeholders.

Summary of Presentations and Discussions

Global and Regional Trends in Food Prices (Session 1)

- 15. The first presentation in Session 1 provided an overview of the global situation on food prices during 2007-10 and of key short-run and long-run drivers of the high food prices. It also reviewed policy responses at the global level which are currently being discussed. This presentation thus provided the background for discussing issues at the regional and national levels.
- 16. The second presentation in Session 1 gave a synopsis of price trends of major food items in the Near East region. The prices of wheat, meat, cooking oil and other food prices both at country and regional level were analyzed from 2005 to 2008 for comparison reasons but highlighted more on the high price surge of 2008. In addition, it was elaborated that the price trends of food in the Near East was consistent and comparable to the global trends at any given year. This confirms that the prices in international markets pass through to domestic consumer prices.
- 17. Finally, the impact of high food prices on poverty and undernourishment was examined and demonstrated that high food prices heaved more people below the poverty line and increased the proportion of undernourished people in the region. In this context it was shown that at least 25% price increases of major food items will increase the number of undernourished people in the Near East region by 2.8 million people.
- 18. In the subsequent discussions, participants raised a number of issues related to soaring food prices and their implications and made some suggestions. These covered the role of rules-based trade and price stabilization policies, biofuels and the link between energy and food prices, speculative activities of investment funds, and the role of monopolistic global food markets. The participants also underscored the need for quality data on prices and other agricultural statistics and information.

Short-term responses to high food prices- an assessment of the food crisis of 2007-2008 and lessons learned (Session 2)

- 19. The first presentation gave an overview of macroeconomic implications and related policy responses. Higher food prices lead to higher inflation, which severely affects the poor as they typically spend large shares of their incomes on food. Higher food prices also increase the cost of imports and thus contribute to a deterioration of the external current account balance. There are also negative budgetary implications in the countries of the region that rely on untargeted subsidies to insulate domestic markets from price swings.
- 20. Generally, countries should pass through food price increases and avoid discretionary policies, while protecting the poor through targeted and cost effective social safety net programs. The first best response for governments is therefore to scale up existing cash or near-cash transfer schemes,

and provide indirect income support to vulnerable households, for example by scaling up school feeding programs or reducing/waiving user fees for public services that cater mostly to the poor. While tax and tariff reductions or subsidies on essential food items can be used in some cases when no better targeted safety net instruments are available, any measures that limit the pass-through of international food prices should be selective and time-bound. Overall, the key challenge for the region is to develop more targeted income support instruments that can be used to provide cost-effective protection to vulnerable groups against food price volatility without distorting relative price signals that are important to trigger desirable demand and supply responses.

- 21. The second presentation highlighted the negative impacts of high and volatile food prices on food security at both national and household levels in the sub-region. Inflationary pressure and food trade deficit increase at national level, while poor households suffer from undernourishment and reduced spending on basic services such as education and health services.
- 22. Short-term measures to improve national food security include modernizing procurement systems with the help of electronic tending or bidding, mitigating price risks through the use of futures contracts and options, reducing supply risks using strategies such as bonded warehouse (warehouses in which dutiable goods such as grain are stored without paying duties pending their re-export or release and payment of import duties), signing bilateral agreements with exporting countries, and improving information on crop supply, demand, stocks and export availability. At household level, short-term measures such as country-wide consumer support schemes in the form of food and fuel subsidies as well as tariff and tax reduction on food items are commonly applied in the sub-region. However, universal subsidies are costly, and often distort the market and benefit the well-off. Safety net programs such as targeted cash transfers do not distort commodity markets, have lower administrative costs, and allow beneficiary sovereignty over what is purchased. Cash transfer programs could also be contingent on school attendance to address education and nutrition problems simultaneously.

Long-term challenges and measures to address high food prices (Session 4)

23. The first presentation in this session addressed the long term challenges of the region, and the need to address core issues in agriculture along with short term measures, in order to mitigate future shocks and their negative impacts. The unprecedented increase in agricultural investment driven by the 2007-2008 food price crisis and the positive impact of high food prices on producers and food retailers due to the commodity boom was also addressed, giving an assessment of capital stock in the region and the need for additional agricultural investment. The region lags behind other regions in terms of agricultural productivity, and investments in agriculture, both public and private, have been low in the past. More than 90% of all international agriculture investment in the region has historically come from other countries in the region. Recent evidence shows that agricultural investments will continue to grow in the next few years, not only by large international companies but also by small domestic investors. Most countries in the region need policies and strategies to ensure that investments continue to increase in a manner which can effectively address the long term challenges and help overcome food insecurity in the long run.

- 24. In the ensuing discussion, the participants articulated the importance of capturing the positive momentum brought about through high food prices which has made agriculture an attractive sector for investors and stressed the need for regional efforts in promoting investments. In this regard, reference was made to the Regional Investment Forum, which was endorsed in NERC 30, as a mechanism to exchange best practices, develop effective policies, address food security challenges and ensure responsible investments.
- 25. The second presentation of this session addressed the long term issues related to food security. A steady increase in the demand for food, feed, fiber and fuel (because of population growth, income rise and urbanization) against uncertain and variable supply (due to land and water constraints, climate change and high cost of fuel) is likely to sustain food prices at high and variable levels in the foreseeable future. Supply problems in the international markets are also expected to be adversely affected by declining and variable stocks and market distortions stemming from panic buying, export banning and speculative activities.
- 26. On the supply side, long-term strategies in the region need to focus on increasing food availability and access by growing more food on less land and with less energy and water and without further harming the natural environment. Enhancing research and development, along with measures aimed at addressing price volatility and high cost of production, is critical in improving incentives for food producers and value chain operators. The contributions of new innovations such as biotechnology and nanotechnology in ensuring sustainable improvement in yield and productivity need to be explored. On the demand side, family planning services (to curb high population growth) and social protection programs would have a significant long-term food security and nutrition benefits.
- 27. Regarding longer term strategies to address high food prices, one specific suggestion made was for FAO to explore the feasibility of establishing food stocks at the regional level for the two subregions. In addition, participants also noted the efforts being made to improve market intelligence and information sharing on factors behind the high price (e.g. stocks), and called upon FAO and others to assist the countries and regional bodies in similar schemes. A third specific proposal was on promoting regional value chains in food products.

Development Partner Programs and Initiatives (Session 5)

- 28. Several development partners made presentations to inform participants of their work program and specific initiatives, activities or projects undertaken in relation to the high and volatile food prices and food security.
- 29. The first presentation in this session focused on selected IFAD experiences, including the *sanadiq* in Syria, refinancing facilities, equity financing and the new Yemen country programme which is valued at USD 120 million and co-financed with strategic partners, managed by a public-private partnership. This programme focuses on economic opportunities in selected value chains (coffee,

- honey, horticulture, fish products, natural stone, textiles). These examples were useful to understand the ongoing contribution of IFAD at country level as well as to highlight potential areas of support for countries through IFAD.
- 30. The United Nations (UN) High Level Task Force (HLTF) presented the revised Comprehensive Framework for Action (CFA) which presents two sets of actions to promote a comprehensive response to the global food crisis. The first set focuses on immediate needs of vulnerable populations, the second set builds on resilience and contributes to global food and nutrition security. The HTLF was established by the UN Chief Executives Board in April 2008, which, under the leadership of the UN Secretary-General, the Task Force brings together the Heads of the UN specialized agencies, funds and programmes, as well as relevant parts of the UN Secretariat, the World Bank, the International Monetary Fund, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development and the World Trade Organization. The primary aim of the Task Force is to promote a comprehensive and unified response to the challenge of achieving global food security, including by facilitating the creation of a prioritized plan of action and coordinating its implementation. The CFA is a framework that sets out the joint position of HLTF members, and aims to be a catalyst for action by providing governments, international and regional organizations, and civil society groups with a menu of policies and actions from which to draw appropriate responses
- 31. The AOAD introduced its main programmes and assignments aimed at Arab cooperation in facing world food crises. The presentation provided information on the main elements of AOAD's *Strategy for Sustainable Arab Agricultural Development (2005–2025)* (SAAD) which has seven programme areas. The participants were also briefed on the Emergency Arab food security programme to extend over 20 years and which will focus on increasing production capacities of Arab countries in the short term for several commodities including (grains and cereals, sugar crops, oilseeds, dates, olives and animal products), moving toward broader development areas in the medium to long term.
- 32. The Alternate Permanent Representative of the US mission to the UN Agencies in Rome offered a briefing on current actions being taken in Rome at the UN food and agriculture agencies, as well as efforts by the U.S. with its global food security strategy -- "Feed Future." Following just days after Secretary Clinton addressed diplomats and senior UN officials in Rome on the topic of global food security, participants were pleased to receive links to her speech and to information about U.S. efforts to promote maternal and child nutrition through the "Standing Up Nutrition: 1,000 Days" campaign. Similar interest was shown to FAO's joint work with the OECD and other agencies on food price volatility, including a paper on the topic to be presented in June to G-20 agriculture ministers in France.

Presentation of the FAO Guide on Policy and Programmatic Actions

33. In 2007, international food prices began to soar, and by mid-2008, they had reached their highest level in 30 years. Some governments responded to the food price crisis in haste, putting in place

measures such as export bans, which often made the situation worse. Countries have taken some steps towards addressing the issue, particularly measures aimed at reducing the impact on consumers. Some of these decisions (e.g. export bans) have had dramatic consequences on world prices and have exacerbated the problem for importing countries, which is why it is so important to consider carefully the implications, both domestically and internationally, of any decision taken by a country.

- 34. Given these circumstances, FAO felt it would be timely to publish an updated guide for country level action that would review the pros and cons of various policy and programmatic actions that countries could use to address high food prices, as well as their likely impact at country and household level. A brief presentation was made to introduce the document¹ and participants received a copy of the guide.
- 35. The guide addresses the conditions under which policies and programmes are best adapted. And, it cautions against measures which may appear useful in the short term but which could have harmful longer-term effects or become difficult to remove, thus turning into a constraint, once the situation becomes more "normal".
- 36. This guide is designed for those involved in developing action plans to address the current issue of high food prices, and it is divided into three parts. The first part provides background information on the context, purpose, audience and structure of the guide. The second part provides some essential remarks on processes that lead to decisions on actions to be taken as well as on the analytical underpinning required to ensure that instruments used are well adapted to the specific conditions within the country. The third part looks at instruments that could be used to immediately address high food prices. They are classified by the domain of intervention (macroeconomy, trade, measures in favour of consumption and of production).
- 37. It should be noted that the instruments are reviewed in isolation. It therefore has the limitation of not focusing on possible synergies or contradictory effects that some instruments may have if used simultaneously in a country. It also does not examine the regional or global level effects of policies implemented at the national level.

Arabic: http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/user_upload/ISFP/ISFP_AR-Web_2_.pdf

English: http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/user_upload/ISFP/revisedISFP_guide_web.pdf

¹ The guide can be downloaded in Arabic and English from the following sites:

Short-term policy actions taken by governments in response to the food crisis

- 38. Most countries in the region implemented a variety of social safety net and other policy and programmatic actions in order to address the immediate impacts of the food crisis. The programs ranged from direct cash payments to all citizens to food subsidies and increase in wages of public employees and include the following specific programs:
 - Cash payment to farmers (Yemen, Bahrain, Oman, Saudi Arabia)
 - Increase public sector wages (Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, Oman, Yemen, Egypt, Syria, Lebanon, Iraq)
 - Land rent ceiling (Saudi Arabia)
 - Ban on grain exports (Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon, Syria) export ban of other foodstuffs such as tomatoes and live animals e.g. sheep (Syria only)
 - Import tax removal (Jordan, Egypt)
 - Reduction of imports duties on basic food custom tariffs on foodstuffs (Syria, Lebanon)
 - Reinforce decision which sets ceilings on profit margins for wholesalers and retailers sales (Lebanon)
 - Stop export subsidies program (Lebanon)
 - Agricultural credits : Rescheduling of loan repayments (Syria); Subsidize interest loans (Iraq, Jordan)
- 39. Subsidies to producers and consumers and were policy actions commonly implemented by most countries in the region. The following provide a list of actions taken by the countries in the region.
 - Increase producer prices: government purchased yield from famers at prices higher than international prices Syria (Wheat, barley, rice, sugar beet, cotton), Iraq (wheat, barley, rice, sugar, sugar beet dates)
 - Minimum guaranteed prices for farmers (Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, Yemen, Oman)
 - Bread subsidy (Egypt) wheat and wheat flour subsidies (Lebanon)
 - Increase subsidies in consumer prices for sugar and rice (Syria)
 - Fix consumer prices for bread (Lebanon, Syria)
 - Expanding program for distribution of sugar and rice to poor households (Syria)
 - Direct cash payments to all consumers (Iran)
 - Input subsidies (Jordan, Egypt, Iran)
 - Distribution of seed and fertilizer (Iran, Oman)
- 40. Land acquisition abroad to produce food is another strategy adopted by many of the oil exporting countries in the region to improve national food security. Some countries have established funds to encourage and support investments abroad. The decision of Saudi Arabia to phase out wheat production by 2016 was supported through the King Abdullah Initiative for Foreign Investment in Agriculture mobilizing \$800 million in support of foreign investment abroad. Other funds include \$1 billion from the Qatar to support investments abroad. Grains stockholding in Syria was seen to have assisted substantially in dealing with food price volatility in 2007-08.
- 41. Several constraints faced by countries in implementing these actions were also discussed during break out discussions. In implementing short term measures, the most cited constraints were:
 - budget constraints, infrastructure and institutional constraints, non-availability of stocks,

- lack of coordination between various institutions involved in the implementation of short term policies,
- cross- border smuggling due to consumer and producer price differentials arising from subsidies (eg. in the case of Syria, Iraq and Lebanon).

Countries also mentioned the importance of longer term clear strategies and relationships with partners, given the concerns of long term national food security for most of the countries in the region.

Outcome of working group discussions on next steps

- 42. The second day working group discussions focused on three major areas to identify the way forward and next steps, based on the discussions of the two days. The three questions each working group discussed were (i) how can regional cooperation be strengthened? (ii) how can FAO and other organizations assist countries? (iii) what kind of support can countries in the region provide for regional and country level actions/programmes?
- 43. Strengthening regional cooperation was seen as crucial in dealing with internal food price volatility. The following are necessary actions for strengthening regional cooperation.
 - Strengthening Research & Development (R&D) and study possibility/feasibility for the creation of a Regional R&D Fund
 - Sharing information and exchanging experiences in the field of agricultural policies
 - Organizing a Forum on Agricultural Investment in the Region
 - Enhancing intra-regional trade and improve trade integration
 - Creating regional buffer stocks /strategic food grain reserves
 - Establishing an Early Warning System at the regional level
- 44. How FAO and other organizations can assist:

FAO

- Conduct necessary studies for the establishment of an Early Warning System at the regional level / Creation of databases for historical data records (prices, supply, production)
- Providing assistance in capacity building and information networks
- Research and studies in the field of water
- Intensify meetings between experts and specialists
- Focusing on small and medium-sized projects targeting farmers
- Further contribute in the transfer of experiences and success stories among the regions
- Support, upon request, individual countries in organizing national stakeholders workshops to discuss high food price issues.
- Prepare a proposal to activate the Near East and North Africa Regional Network for Agricultural Policies (NENARNAP) / Seek funding from Arab and International Funds.
- Update the "FAO Guide for Policy and Programmatic Actions" to include lessons learned from countries in the region in responding to food price volatility.

ICARDA, ACSAD, FAO

- Increase funds allocated to research mainly in topics related to water management, production of seeds / agricultural inputs
- Conduct necessary studies related to the creation of a Regional R&D Fund

 Activate Regional Networks for Research in order to foster closer cooperation among the Research Institutes

FAO, AAAID, Arab Funds & other concerned organizations

- Conduct preparatory thematic meetings, e.g. legislative and regulatory frameworks relating to foreign investments, best practices and lessons learned from previous foreign investments in agriculture in the region..
- Prepare related technical papers to be presented/discussed in the Forum.

FAO, AOAD & other concerned organizations

- Conduct necessary feasibility studies for the establishment and management of regional buffer stocks.
- 45. How can the countries of the region provide financial and/or human resources support for programmes of benefit to the region:
 - Member States committing their contributions to International Organizations
 - Common agricultural investment
 - Providing support through regional and national funding institutions and commodity funds
 - Providing technical expertise (exchange of experts and sharing of experiences)

Summary Conclusions of the Sub-Regional Seminar on Policy and Programmatic Actions

- 46. The seminar, part of several seminars in regions around the world, and the second in the Near East Region, provided ample opportunity for participants to exchange country experiences and discuss emerging policy issues, in light of high food prices and the major challenges facing the region/subregion. The participants learned about the policy responses to the 2007-2008 food crisis and shared the implications of these policies and the difficulties faced in their design or implementation. The participants were briefed on the FAO "Guide for policy and programmatic actions at country level to address high food prices".
- 47. Attendance to the seminar was high, with representation from 9 of the 12 countries, and representatives of NGOs, more than 10 regional organizations, (UN) Secretary General's High Level Task Force (HLTF), private sector and development agencies. The outcome of the seminar was very satisfactory, where the main objectives of the seminar were accomplished in the two days, namely, i) to take stock of the food price situation at the country level, ii) discuss the experiences and lessons from the previous food price crisis of 2007-08 for better policy-making, iii) share information on policies and programme interventions initiated by the governments in the region, iv) identify potential policy and programmatic options to address the high food price issue and v) discuss opportunities for collaboration with development partners. In addition, the seminar prepared the ground for launching a policy dialogue in each country and identifying support required from development partners.

- 48. The first set of presentations and discussions provided an overview of the global situation on food prices during 2007-10 and of key short-run and long-run drivers of the high food prices. It also reviewed policy responses at the global level, thus providing the background for discussing issues at the regional and national levels. The focus of discussions on the first day was on impacts of high food prices, at macroeconomic level and household level, focusing on short term policy responses to cushion the impact of high food prices for consumers and producers. The second day focused on long term issues, starting with a review of the major challenges in the region and long run measures, including agricultural investments, to address these challenges and reduce vulnerability in the long-run.
- 49. In the subsequent discussions, participants raised a number of issues and made some suggestions. These covered the role of rules-based trade and price stabilization policies, biofuels and the link between energy and food prices, speculative activities of investment funds, and the role of concentrated global food markets.
- 50. The recommendations made by participants for needed policy actions included:
 - improving information and statistics in the region in terms of availability and quality
 - establishing early warning systems
 - stressing agricultural research, particularly in grains
 - activating and updating existing policy networks and put more emphasis on policy assistance
 - coordinating and encouraging investment in agriculture.
- 51. One specific suggestion made was for FAO to explore the feasibility of establishing food stocks at the regional level for the two sub-regions. In addition, participants also noted the efforts being made to improve market intelligence and information sharing on factors behind the high price (e.g. stocks], and called upon FAO and others to assist the countries and regional bodies in similar schemes. A third specific proposal was on promoting regional value chains in food products. The participants expressed interest in a regional conference on investment as well as repeating these types of seminars at national level to ensure the inclusion of more national level stakeholders.

Next steps

- 52. This seminar constitutes the beginning of a process. The primary aim was to exchange experiences from the 2007-08 food price crisis and to become better acquainted with the pros and cons of various measures that were taken. The seminar was meant to complement ongoing efforts at national, regional and sub regional level and facilitate dialogue between countries and the international community. The outcomes of this seminar, along with the seminar held in Tunis, will be presented at the Regional Meeting of the Committee on World Food Security (CFS), and provide the basis for further policy discussions in the region.
- 53. The aim of the final session of the seminar was to consolidate the major issues and problems faced in the various policy and programmatic actions that governments can take. Based on this participants reflected on next steps that could be taken at country level. Given the limited time of

the seminar, it was difficult to identify detailed next steps that countries will take. The next steps defined can thus be modest in nature requiring further follow-up.

- 54. Based on the discussion, next steps at country level may include activities such as:
 - organizing national consultations and seminars, using <u>existing</u> consultative mechanisms if available, to raise awareness among stakeholders and build human and institutional capacities to deal with food price volatility;
 - reflection and discussion with relevant government ministries on necessary adjustments that can be made in ongoing policies and programmes;
 - identification of key priority areas needing technical assistance and organizations that can provide this;
 - identification of project and investment needs;
 - identification of additional funding needs and ways of enhanced cooperation with the international donor community;
 - assessment of areas of regional and sub regional cooperation;
 - identification of capacity building needs.

ANNEX 1



LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

Regional Seminar on Policy and Programmatic Actions to Address High Food Prices in the Near East Region" 9-10 May 2011 Landmark Hotel Amman, Jordan

MEMBER COUNTRIES

BAHRAIN

1. Mr. Mohamed Alhindi

BAHRAIN

Email: malhendi64@gmail.com

EGYPT

2. Mr. Mohsen ElBatran

Ministry of Agriculture

EGYPT

Email: Dr.Mohsen.elbatran@gmail.com

3. Mr. Omar Abdin

Advisor to Minister of Finance on Agriculture policies

Ministry of Finance

EGYPT

Email: oabdin@mof.gov.eg

<u>IRAN</u>

4. Mr. Mohamad Khaledi

Agricultural Support Policies Department

Agricultural Planning Economic and Rural Development Research Institute (APERRI)

IRAN

Tel: +98-88800417 Fax: +98-88809996

Email: m_khaledi2002@yahoo.com

<u>IRAO</u>

5. Mr. Faris Hussein

Economic Expert

6. Mr. Riadh Hassan

Deputy in Ministry of Finance

IRAQ

Email: Iraqmof2008@yahoo.com

JORDAN

7. Mr. Falah Ibrahim Salah

Director of Licenses and Borders Centers

IORDAN

Tel: +962 6 5686151 ext 303 Mobile +962 79 9059560 Email: Falah-a@moa.gov.jo

8. Mr. Malik Mahadeen

Director of Studies and Policy Department

Ministry of Agriculture Tel: +9627799038484

JORDAN

Fax: +96265662587

Email: mahadeen@moa.gov.jo

9. Ms. Ala'a Qattan

Senior Economic and Investment Analyst

The Prime Minister's Office, Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan

JORDAN

Tel: +9626 4641211 ext: 221

Fax: +9626 4630315 Mobile: +962799759148 Email: alaa.qattan@pm.gov.jo

10. Mr. Omar Ababneh

Diplomatic Attaché

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

IORDAN

Tel: +962795595253 Fax: +96265501416

Email: Omar.ababneh@fm.gov.jo

11. Mr. Tawfiq Al-Habashneh (Opening only)

Director General of Agricultural Credit Corporation (ACC)

Tel: + 962 6 5661105 Fax:+962 6 5698365

Email: director.g@acc.gov.jo

12. Mr. Radi Al-Tarawneh (Opening only)
Secretary General, Ministry of Agriculture

Tel: + 962 6 5688642 Fax:+962 6 5692515 Email: moa-gs@moa.gov.jo

LEBANON

13. Ms. Amal Salibi

Head of Economic Studies and statistics services Ministry of Agriculture

LEBANON

Tel: +9611849637 Fax: +9611823900

Email: asalibi@agriculture.gov.lb

14. Ms. Hanadi Jaafar

Head of Import & Export Department

Ministry of Agriculture

LEBANON

Tel: 9611849610 ext 316

Fax: 9611823900

Email: hjaafar@agriculture.gov.lb

15. Mr. Salah Hajj Hassan

Advisor to the Minister of Agriculture

Ministry of Agriculture

LEBANON

Email: mmlebanon@hotmail.com

OMAN

16. Mr. Waleed Al-Rawahi

Administrative Researcher

Public Authority for Consumer Protection

OMAN

Tel: +96824828118 Fax: +96824816469

Email: w.a.alrawahi@gmail.com

17. Mr.Salim Al-Abdali

Ass.of planning and investment Promotion

Ministry of Agriculture

OMAN

Tel: +96821691357 Fax: +968824696388

Email: samadshaan@yahoo.com

SAUDI ARABIA

18. Mr. Abdullah Al Obaid

Deputy Minister for Research & Development

Ministry of Agriculture

SAUDI ARABIA

Tel: +96614037879 Fax: +96614055855

Email: Obaid@moa.gov.sa

19. Mr. Mosleh Al Ghamdi

General Manager / Department of studies planning and statistics

Ministry of Agriculture

SAUDI ARABIA

Tel: +96614031193 Fax: +96614031792

Email: Mosleh999@yahoo.com

SYRIA

20. Mr. Atiyeh el Hendi

Director of Agriculture Policy Center

SYRIA

Tel: +963115455369 Fax: +963115455368

Email: Atieh.Elhindi@napcsyr.org

21. Mr. Munir Alzuhili

Manager of Planning and International Cooperation Commission

SYRIA

Tel: +963115161019

Email: raed-649@yahoo.com

22. Mr. Abdulkhalek Alaani

Deputy of Minister of Economy

SYRIA

Tel: +963115161111 Fax: +963115161113 Email: Econ-min@net.sy

YEMEN

23. Mr. Aly Guneid Aly

General Director of Planning and Monitoring

Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation

YEMEN

Tel:7715971863

Email: a-gnid@hotmail.com

24. Mr. Omar Al-Fakieh

Director General for Public works, Water and Environment.

Prime Ministry

YEMEN

25. Mr. Abdalla Al-Shatter

General Director of Planning and Monitoring Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation

YEMEN

Mobile: +967 771591869 Email: ashater@mpic.gov.ye

26. Mr. Khaled Saeed

Director General / Food Security Strategy

Ministry of planning & international Cooperation

YEMEN

Tel: +9671239710 Fax: +9671239710

Email: kmsaldhobhani@yahoo.com

REGIONAL ORGANIZATIONS

ARAB ORGANIZATION FOR AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT (OAD)

27. Mr. Salah Abdel-Kader

Director of Food Security in change

Arab Organization for Agricultural Development

SUDAN

Tel: +249183472176 Fax: +249183471050 Email: salgadir@gmail.com

ARAB PLANNING INSTITUTE (API)

28. Mr. Ibrahim Onour

Professor

Arab planning Institute

KUWAIT

Mobile: +96594012953 Email: ibonour@hotmail.com

ARAB MONETARY FUND (AMF)

29. Mr. Mohamed Ismail

Economist

Arab Monetary Fund UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

Tel: +971508299075

Email: Moh_cbe@hotmail.com

ARAB AUTHORITY FOR AGRICULTURAL INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT (AAAID)

30. Mr. Younes Tarawna

Arab Authority for Agricultural Investment Development

SUDAN

Mobile: +962777731164

Email: Younes_tarawnah@yahoo.com

FARMERS' ORGANIZATIONS

ARAB PEASANTS & AGRICULTURAL COOPERATIVES

31. Mr. Ahmed Masoud Al Deshk

REGIONAL PRIVATE SECTOR

AL-MARAI Co.

32. Mr. Abdullah Al Tasan

Head of Direct Procurement

Almarai Company

Tel: +96614700005 ext 1559

Fax: +96614701555

Email: Abdullah.tasan@almari.com

HASSAD Co.

33. Mr.Hamad Al Saad

Adviser

Hassad Food Company

QATAR

Tel: +97444079202 Mobile: +97455508900 Email: hamad@hassad.com

UN AND OTHER INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS

International Monetary Fund

34. Mr. Gazi H. Shbaikat

Resident Representative

International Monetary Fund IMF Office Iraq (Jordan)/Yemen

Tel.: +962 6 586 1598

Fax: +962 6 586 1572

Cell.: +962 777 55 66 50 / +962 79 90 54 905

Email:Gshbaikat@imf.org

ESCWA

35. Mr. Vito Intini

First Economic Affairs Officer

Emerging and Conflict Related Issues (ECRI)

United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia (ESCWA)

Beirut, LEBANON

Tel: +961 1 978 618
Fax: +961 1 981 510

E-mail: intini@un.org

UN HIGH LEVEL TASK FORCE ON FOOD SECURITY (HLTF)

36. Ms. Elena Gaino

Policy Officer

UN High Level Task force on Food Security

Geneva, SWITZERLAND Tel: +41229171679 Mobile: +41787268670 Email: Elena.gaino@undp.org

37. Mr. Samir Bejaoui

Associate Professional Officer

International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD)

Rome, ITALY

Mobile: +333356101173 Email: s.bejaoui@ifad.org

INTERNATIONAL FUND FOR AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT (IFAD)

38. Mr. Omer Zafar

Country Programme Manager, NEN Division, PMD International Fund for Agricultural Development

Rome, ITALY

Tel: +39-06-5459-2348

UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME (UNDP)

39. Mr. Luc Stevens (Opening only)

UN Resident Coordinator, UNDP Resident Coordinator

UNDP/IORDAN

Tel: +962 6 5338167, ext: 215

Fax: +962 6 5340782 Mobile: +962 796634000 Email: luc.stevens@undp.org

40. Mr. Mohammad Al-Ajlouni

Project Management advisor

UNDP/JORDAN

Tel: +9625686151 ext 285 Mobile: +962799787274

Email: Mohammad.ajlouni@undp.org

UNITED NATIONS INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT ORGANIZATION (UNIDO)

41. Mr. Esam Algararah (First day)

Head of UNIDO Operations in Jordan

Office +962 (0)6 5668964 Mobile +962(0) 799048313 Fax +962 6 5665160

E-mail: e.alqararah@unido.org

INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT PARTNERS AND COOPERATION AGENCIES

U.S. MISSION TO THE UN FOOD AGENCIES

42. Mr. Chris Hegadorn

Alternate Permanent Representative U.S. Mission to the UN Food Agencies,

Rome, ITALY

Work: (+039) 06-4674-3506 C: (+039) 335-643-2174 Email: HegadornCS@state.gov

US AGENCY FOR INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT (USAID)

43. Mr. Ramzi Maaytah

Project Management Specialist Office of Economic Growth (EG)

USAID/JORDAN

Tel: +962-6-590-6379 Fax: +962-6-592-1535 Email: rmaaytah@usaid.gov

IAPAN INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION AGENCY (IICA)

44. Mr. Rabah Al-Shanti

Project Officer and Advisor for Economic and Financial sectors

JICA/JORDAN

Tel: +962 6 5858921/22/23

Fax: +962 6 5858942 Mobile: +962 795861089

Email: DawoodRabah.JD@jica.go.jp

45. Mr.Yuichi Nishida

JICA/IRAQ

Email: Nishida.yuichi@jica.go.jp

FRANCE

46. H.E Mrs. Corinne Bruze (Opening only)

Ambassador of France in Jordan

French Embassy, JORDAN Tel: +962 (0)6 4601 049 Fax: +962 (0)6 4601 600

47. Ms. Sahar AL-KHAYYAT

Attaché (Economic and regulatory issues) Economic Service – French Embassy, JORDAN Tel: +962 (0)6 4601 049 (ext.212)

Fax: +962 (0)6 4601 600

Email: sahar.al-khayyat@dgtresor.gouv.fr

48. Mr. Dominique Klein

Economic Counselor

Economic Service - French Embassy, JORDAN

Tel: +962 (0)6 4601 049 Fax: +962 (0)6 4601 600

Email: Dominique.KLEIN@dgtresor.gouv.fr

49. Ms. Kinda Chebib

Economic Attaché

Economic Service – French Embassy Tel: +962 (0)6 4601 049 ext: 219

Fax: +962 (0)6 4601 600 Mobile: +962 779030757

Email: Kinda.chebib@ dgtresor.gouv.fr

UNIVERSITY/RESEARCH CENTER

EGYPT

50. Mr. Gamal Siam Elbaghdady

Professor

Center for Agricultural & Economic studies/Faculty of Agriculture,

Cairo University, Cairo, EGYPT

Tel: +20235700995 Fax: +20235717355

Email: Gamal_siam@hotmail.com

IORDAN

51. Mr.Raed Al-ATIYAT

Head of Animal Science Department / Agriculture Faculty

Mutah University, JORDAN

Tel: +96232372380 Fax: +9623233154

Email: raedatiyat@yahoo.com

52. Dr. Faisal Awawdeh (Opening only)

Director General, National Center for Agricultural research and Extension (NCARE)

Tel: + 962 6 4726680 Fax:+962 6 4726099 Mobile: +962 777781170 Email: director@ncare.gov.jo

FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION (FAO)

FAO Experts

53. Mr. Ibrahim El-Dukheiri

Senior Policy Consultant, Regional Office for the Near East

Email: dukheri@yahoo.com

54. Ms. Aysen Tanyeri-Abur

Senior Policy Consultant, Regional Office for the Near East

Email: Aysen.Tanyeriabur@fao.org

FAO REGIONAL OFFICE FOR THE NEAR EAST (CAIRO)

55. Mr. Saad AlOtaibi

Assistant Director General and Regional Representative for the Near East

Email: Saad.alotaibi@fao.org

56. Mr. Moujahed Achouri

Deputy Regional Representative for the Near East, Head of the Multidisciplinary Team for

Oriental Near East, and FAO Representative in Egypt

Email: Moujahed.achouri@fao.org

57. Mr. Mohamed Barre

Regional Statistician

Email: Mohamed.barre@fao.org

58. Mr. Prem Sharma

Senior Field Program Officer

Email: Prem.sharma@fao.org

59. Mr. Nasredin Elamin

Senior Policy Officer

Email: Nasredin.Elamin@fao.org

60. Ms. Manal Mabrouk

Field Programme Support and Monitoring Officer

Email: Manal.mabrouk@fao.org

61. Mr. Jaff Kayan

Senior Policy Officer

Email: Jaff.kayan@fao.org

FAO (ROME)

62. Mr. Ramesh Sharma

Senior Economist, Markets and Trade Division

Email: Ramesh.sharma@fao.org

63. Mr. Gunther Feiler

Agricultural Policy Support Officer, Policy Assistance Support Service (TCSP)

Email: Gunther.Feiler@fao.org

64. Mr. Jacques de Graaf

Investment Center Division

Email: Jacques.DeGraaf@fao.org

65. Mr. Mulat Demeke

Economist, Agricultural Development Economics Division

Email: Mulat.Demeke@fao.org

66. Mr. Fathi Hadhri

Food Security Officer, Integrated Food Security Support Service (TCSF)

Email: Fathi.Hadhri@fao.org

FAO (IRAQ)

67. Mr. Michael Pizzari

Emergency Programme Officer

Tel: +390657053026 Mobile:+393388747772

Email: Michael.pizzari@fao.org

68. Mr. Mohammed Hilal

Head of Mission (Deputy)

Tel: +96265562550 Fax: +96265562553

Email: Hilal.mohammed@faoiraq.org

FAO, West Bank, GAZZA

69. Mr. Azzam Ayasa

Emergency and Rehabilitation Coordinator

Tel:+9720545321950 Fax: +972025400027

Email: Azzam.saleh@fao.org

FAO REPRESENTATIVES

IRAN

70. Mr. Noureddin Mona

FAO Representative in Iran

Email: Noureddin.mona@fao.org

IRAO

71. Mr. Fadel El-Zubi

FAO Representative in Iraq

Tel:+96265562550 Fax: +96265562553

Email: Fadel.elzubi@faoiraq.org

JORDAN

72. Mr. Ahmed Elminiawy

FAO Representative in Jordan

Tel:+96265627219 Fax: +96265681895 Email: FAO-JO@fao.org

LEBANON

73. Mr. Ali Moumen

FAO Representative in Lebanon Email: Ali.moumen@fao.org

SAUDI ARABIA

74. Mr. Abdallah OIHABI

FAO Representative in Saudi Arabia Email: Abdallah.Oihabi@fao.org

UAE

75. Mr. Abdu Al Assiri

FAO Representative in UAE Email: Abdu.AlAssiri@fao.org

YEMEN

76. Mr. Fuad Aldomy

FAO Representative in Yemen

TEL:+9671432681 Fax: +9671432686

Email: Fuad.aldomy@fao.org

ANNEX 2

Regional Seminar on Policy and Programmatic Actions to Address High Food

Prices in the Near East Region

9 - 10 May 2011, Amman, Jordan

Agenda

	Day 1: Monday 9 May 2011
8:30-8:50	Official Opening Remarks
	Minister of Agriculture, Jordan (HE Sameer Habashneh)
0.10.0.20	FAO Assistant Director General and Regional Representative (Saad Al Otaibi)
9:10-9:30	Introduction and objectives of the seminar (Moujahed Achouri/FAO Regional Office
	for the Near East (RNE))
0.20.10.00	Procedures and organization of the seminar (Facilitator)
9:30-10:00	Session 1: Overview of global and regional trends in food prices
	Overview of global and regional trends in food prices
	Global trends Ramesh Sharma/FAO Markets and Trade Division (EST)) Regional developments and broad publics on the theoretic approach to address.
	Regional developments and broad outline on the thematic approach to address high food prigos in the region (Negredin Florin and Mohamed Borre / FAO BNE)
10.15 10.45	high food prices in the region (Nasredin Elamin and Mohamed Barre/ FAO RNE) Coffee break
10:15-10:45	
10:45-12:00	Session 2: Short-term responses to high food prices- an assessment of the food crisis
	of 2007-2008 and lessons learned (Presentations followed by brief discussions)
	Macroeconomic and trade implications (Ramesh Sharma/FAO EST and Gazi Ship side to IME Particular to Prove south triangles and Very and Ver
	Shbaikat/ IMF Resident Representative for Iraq and Yemen)
	Implications on food security and vulnerability in the short run (Mulat
	Demeke/FAO Agricultural Development Economics Division (ESA)) Tracing Impacts on Smallholders and short term coping mechanisms (Ibrahim El
	 Tracing Impacts on Smallholders and short term coping mechanisms (Ibrahim El Dukheri/FAO/RNE)
	 Summary of the short term issues and responses (Facilitator)
12:00-13:00	Plenary Discussion on Session 2: Macroeconomic and short term
12:00-13:00	measures/actions to address high food prices
13:00-14:30	Lunch
14:30-16:00	Session 3: Parallel group discussions on participating country current situation, past
14.50-10.00	experiences, and actions for addressing short-term impacts of high food prices. Selected
	topics for discussion:
	 Recent food price developments for major agricultural commodities
	 Current supply situation for major agricultural commodities
	 Type of policy, programmatic and other measures taken
	 Lessons learned, main issues and constraints
16:00-16:15	Coffee Break
16:15-17:30	Group presentations and plenary discussion of findings from Session 3 on review of
	past experiences, and short term actions to address high food prices. Examples of selected
	country experiences.

	Day 2: Tuesday 10 May 2011
9:00-9:10	Review of day 1 and agenda for day 2
9:10- 10:30	 Session 4: Long-term challenges and measures to address high food prices. (Presentations followed by discussions) Investments in agriculture in the context of regional challenges and priorities (Aysen Tanyeri-Abur/FAO RNE) Long –term implications of high food prices on food security and measures to mitigate negative impacts in the long-run (Mulat Demeke /FAO ESA and /Ibrahim El Dukheri/FAO RNE) Trade and regional cooperation (Ramesh Sharma/FAO EST) Summary and challenges in the long run (Facilitator)
10:30-11:00	Coffee break
11:00 -11:30	Plenary Discussion on Session 4: Long-term implications and relevant measures/actions to address high food prices
11:30-12:00	Session 5: Views of IFIs and multilateral agencies on the situation in the sub-regions and to explain what financing instruments they have to support immediate actions (Omer Zafar/IFAD Country Program Manager Jordan, Gazi Shabaikat/IMF, and others)
12:00-12:30	 Session 6: The way forward: Institutional and Process dimensions Short discussion of FAO Policy Guide on Programmatic Action focusing on Regional level (Jacques De Graaf/FAO Technical Cooperation Department) Follow-up actions and institutional process (Gunther Feiler/FAO Technical Cooperation Department)
12:30-14:00	Lunch
14:00 -15:00	 Session 7: Parallel group sessions to discuss and generate recommendations on: step to be undertaken to launch dialogues on policies programmatic actions at the country level existing process and suggested improvements to mobilize support from development partners, including feedback from countries on how they benefited from donor programs and actions priority policy options to address price increases and volatility measures to improve information flow and sharing in the region
15:00-16:00	Group presentations and plenary discussion of findings from Session 7 on short term actions to address high food prices. Examples of selected country experiences.
16:00- 16:30	Coffee Break
16:30-18:00	 Final Session: Conclusions and recommendations Review of list of next steps to be implemented once back in the country to launch policy dialogue and mobilise development partner support What are some national needs for support to this process and to address the food crisis? What do development partners offer? What can be done at regional/subregional levels? Workshop evaluation- Summary and main outcomes